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(mecend in commend to Generel Jodl of frmed Torces Operetions Staff up to

i 6 September 1944

Teteas of interviews: 19 - 20 July 1945

Triervinwer: - Yajor ¥enreth ¥, HPechler
Plece of {nterview: CC™F # 37 (mAshesn®) &
Circumstancest Gen, Mnrlimont recéived e brain concussion on 20 July e

1944 which forced his retirement on & September 1944,

Pe ar-enrs unusually well-informed on the wer in the

“est up to this time. D'e has been most cooperstive in
fiscusning these sfi'uira and appears to be broad and
intelligent. 7is observations ol the baoekground and con-
#iderations involved in militery decisions seem to be
prrtienlerly penetrating.

PART T. THE TNVASYON

0. ™A you nnticipate that the in¥reion would take place vhere it ectually 9ﬁ//

7
Ae Titler wes the T{rzt one wro decided for bimaelr that this wes tle most /
probable spot for lending, On 2 Yay 1944 he ordered that anti-sireraft snd
anti-tank weapong were to be reinforoeﬁ all through Normandy end Brittany,
counting mrinly on an invesion in Normendy. Fitler's view was based on intelli-
genee raceived aa to troop movements in the British Teles, Two main troop con-
centrrtione hsd been notice’ there, one in the southeset with meinly British
troops ‘nd one in the southwest, in Wrles, cnd both sides of Wales, consisting
meinly eof T.8. troops.

(a1 1“Jhet-e 24d most of the other btigh-ranking offiecinls belitvo ttat the invasion
rould tﬂre nlsce?

A. TP to ey, 1944, vhen Hitler Tirst sooke of {t, we were all prepared for

» lrn’ing in the Chnnnel -one between the Seine and the Sorme, by Abbeville end
Te yevre, Therefore throurhout 1042-43 the coratal defenses were mzinly built
up in the zone of tha 10th Army. -

N At “het perticular roint?

A. T cannot eav that ‘e expected tha landing et any particular point in Nor-
mendy. e exjeected it =11 rlong the const, with special reference to the small
orts (“*ieh sre mrinly in the Paveux srer). e were not quite eonvinced that
Miler von right {n evrecting that stteck but he kept hoerning on i1t snd demanded
~ore ond More rein orcerenta "or thet sector.

n. "tv 27 the genarsle predict thet the invesion would atrike et o ~{fferent

paint then Mtler pre {oted?  You both had nccess to the same sources of in-
“ormetion, 417 youn not?
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A, Ve generels TMgured elong the lines o our regular militery eduestion but
Fitler figures es he alweys did, out of intuition. (1) e Viimrod on the Clennel
rone becruse it is the shortsat erosiing from the British Teles., (2) Once apross
the Channel it i1s the slortest way to Garmany snd its industrisl mubr. (3) Tt
hes at least one big harbor, Le Iivre, bettar situsted than Cherboury an with
bettor routes and lines of communication into tle interior, (4} Your 2lr force
hed better ~ossibllitiee to surort the attack closer to its broes,

0. Tpon whnt else besidsa intuition did Mitler bose his conviction thut ve
would invade Normandy?

A. Be$ddes his obsarvations Irom tro-ps movemants FHitler baned his theory on
the idea that you would nim to build up s steble front {necluding one big hurbor
=nd there wes no better place on the whole corat than the Cotentin Teninsule Tor
tkis purvose.

Q. Did the regular smy officers an’ high cormand lean sny roure towerd Hitler's
view ns8 the invasion duate apnrosched?

A. Ve recosnired too that e laniing in other perte of Turope furtraer Yorth was
becoming more snd more improbabke == the Feitish troops ere groupes rore ond
more to the South. Thre vosition of the U.S. troops esecinlly led Vitler to n2n-
ticipete ~n stteck lrunched sguinst the went cozst of Normandy.

Q. e of course did our best to deceive you into thinking that we would land
in the Pas de Calz2is nres, and erfter the l=nding tn Norm~ndy e still carries
out elaborste dece;tion plens in order 4o tie fo'm your Pifteenth pry ip thris
sector. Whrat led you to feel that we would leand {n the »-¢ “e € V215  rea?

A, The first eir nttocks were ageinst fortificetions of the feine :n’ sinee
we had many standing fortificstions in this seetor we touk it ns “urther evidence

-of your lens,

We nttached grest importance to the Pesistance rnovement: in the hinterlsnd
end tried to deter-ine the place of lending by noting vhere nost »raechute brs-
kets &c¢ were dropped, but as time went on this becane wo videspreqd thet it po
longer ¢ave us eny help,

e also mensgad to get in to somoe of your rudio nets, Nadlo transmitters
were Adropped from planes to be used by your sgents in Prance to inform you ebout
our movements. e intorcented some of these #nd got into your redio nets «nd
use” them ourselves and used to communicate with your stations, e hed the in-
pression thut tris =ction of curs had pussed unnotieod by you. e ound out
thst there were sveciel catchwords with whiech you vrepere’ your operetions uncd
by means of which you were going to inform the Freneh underground ~2 to the day
and rour of your rttncik,.

Q. To whﬁt extent was {t possible to conplete the fortifie~tions along the
Yormendy const vhere the inv-sion ~ws lrater mede?

A, The lortificetion of Normandy wrs not at nll com»lcie; such Torti~ie-tions
require n long time. Tn Meerdy wa has more vorcers fro” occunied enuntrien e
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an® hetter communications ond no one hed thought of Normandy muﬁh before. The
Norman fortifications wore just the sane as those of other perts of the Prench
corat, with one big osition every ' 0-31 'm,

0., veag it a cnae of shortage of troops cor shortage of rmeterials for the ‘orti-
fiestions”

A« Not meny more traops eouléd have been put ir thore budp we could have ‘one
much more in the way of “orti’ying. Wnteriesls, such as cerment, were also rere,
Fe¥ing to be Aivider narong ell the Arme: Forces, Wurthermore, rail'my trons-
“ortation wes petting worse all the time, c3 a result of air attncks on the big
Jugetions, ~e e were well cwere that the fortifications were by no meens com-
Plete, but 1t vra too lote to econplete them as Be should have liked,

0, Yhet ould you hove liked to have done in the my of better tfortificantions
on the NMommandy coont?

A ™ zhould r built more stending Tortificetions ribmlm—tsmsgt built by
the troons the Orpenization Todt. As it ws=s too l:te by this time all
we 6ould 7o .,b tq ~ut more troops in Normandy and improve ileir equipment,

Q. et troops #14 you kuve nvailoble to repulse the invnsion?

A« By ebout 2 Moy 1944 we hed, 3o frr ez T can remenber without dieries, maps

or onersiion books, one Adivision of old men, comprising two regiments around the
mouth of the Nrme, the 711tk NDivision, 2 statie division, snd the 245th {n front
of Rayeux, to cover n constiing of at lerst 60 or even 8C ¥m. The next one,
which you hit very hord, wes the 333rd ~round the mouth of the Dive., There wes

s apeeirl foreo in Cherbourg. (The 245ih and 3b3rd were cn the North coamst of
NMormandy on D=day.)

e had three ivisions on the North coanst of Normeandy, -nother one, (709th)
nround Charbourg asnd the 243rd on the o3t coast of Normandy. On 2 Moy 1944
11tler »ut in the reirnforcements of ~ntieairer=ft and enti-tork wer ons which

ware given to the units, with a view in p=rticuler to théir being better sble
to eombst Paratroops and firborne units.

On 4 Yay he crizrel the “nd Cerman P-rachute Division, then on the Fastern Igul
Front,,to be transforred Lo the West. One regiment of this “ivisian which was
2lresdy irn Qermany when the owder wias civen, the 6th Prnrrnchute Regiment, came at
nnee to Hormandy sorewhare rear 7t.Lo.

I’itler then orders’ that tle 91st Pivision, one of the very few reserve divie
sions we hsd in Qermsny,a en operative reserve, be tronaforred tc Normandy also
#8 a reserve, Nost of this strength was on the bese line of tte Cotentinm., So
setuelly only one narschute regiment and one “ivision wms sent in as we had no
operrtive roserve to Aispose of,

Rundatedt, »§ Oparkommendo West, tried to send reinforcenents but had no re-
8r vea cither end could 4o nothing wortn mentioning. 11 our troops were required
to “efend the verioua coa=t' {nea snd vour stteck in Tialy vas making grert pro-
gress snd one '{vision of the 15th Army, the Luftwafie Felddivision (nugber not
¥nown) hed oven fo be nent to Ttely.
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Rommel, =t tle nuxt echelon, kad 2) ‘nys [ought lor = more tmetical defense
of the coest, We wante’ ts “ul in reserves 28 clo-e to the cocstline an ronsi-
ble. -Once vou knew where the enemy wns guine to strike this wes o couris 03

aible but whern you did not kmowv and Lad & co:si ine of thoussnds of kilumstors

it was too hevardous to risk, As poon 3 Fitler dacicnd that Nomendy wre the
likely spot Rommel hed bis way ond sent his ored divinisna, att-mched Lo him
es Wehreachtsbelfehlsheber in vestern Fhrope (Motherlends Tn) in, fmy Group k"
extended right ‘own to T.» Poctelle., Rommel lad a reserve of ~rmored divizions
and, in eccordance with his line of thinking, 'e now put in the 2lat !rmored Mive
ision somewhere near Cuen, the 12tk 38 Arvorsd Mvision cround Paleise, the “nd
Armored Division round St. Lo (or = little T=st of 1t).

Rommel hed one fArmuored Division left., ¥Fe had two in Nermandy, one culte
close to the cosst, two just 40 to 50 ¥r. behind it, #e had one Division behind
the 15th frmy. This took nleace about the middle of Way., nommel took no infantry
divisions from the 15th Ariy, Maybe this wes due to uncertsainty =8 to the div-
ision of the spheres of Rommel and Rundatedt. T = not sure "hether Pormmael end
Rundstedt were convince? Hitler was right,

Rommel cl=imed it macde no difference where the sttick ocome, -s his Jefenses
were now so good rl]l ~long the co=st,

There were our more =rmnrad ¢{visions farther Test which were reserved for
the disnosition of the Qberiommando derehrmacht. Two were in the neighborhood
of Paris, the Panzer Lehr Division nnd the ”nd 59 Panzer Mivision,

Q. Dnid you expect us to land only vherc there were vorts =nd herbors, or did
you know about our ertifieial ports? ‘hy did not you bomb our rrtificisl ports
aftsr you discovere” how much we were using them to lend suonvliaa?

A. Ve slways éxpecied your sttuck with tre eid of hrrybors end {I we hed nowm
more ~bout your mrtificial ports we should have done more to ston 1it. Tf you
ask why the fir Force did not bomb the nlaces where you landad more cff-ctively
the answer is that our Air Force wrs uneble to breek through your deferges in
order to find and hit the targets of all,

Q. Vere you able to estimate the rute at wiich we could bulld up sup lics sand
troops on the beaches nlter the initisl lending?

2. Ve kmew the cupzcity of the small (natural).h-rbers, but, not knowing about
the artificial prorts, we could not esgtimate your rite of miprly., "e vere able
later to gadge the rate »t whiech you vere landing trocps but confined ourselves
to strength figures, number of divisions, vs our reconn-isgince 3id not pive us
much {nformetion on your troops, nnd still less on your sun-lr circw stances.

Q. Did you suspect thet the invesion would teke pl:ce on the dActe which 4t ~fia»

A. The wenther wes right for en invasion, =n¢ e hid bren alert~d to the nosei-
bility for some wecks nrrior to 6 June. Our chiofl inta ligence source waec the
radio, end our intercota revealad trat the invauion would teke »l-ce on the
morning of 6 June. This information wea relsyed to hand-ur~tars on the rfler-
noon of 5 JYune, Hitler knew it, en? Cenersl JoAdl kne: it, but the infermation
was not mede avelleble to the tro-ps in Mormandy,
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0. Was this considoered n great misteke by Hitler?

A. 1In Hitler's eyes, (anerel Jocl, unlike other men, did not make military mise
tekes. (General Jodl knew the state of alarm or alert under which the troops in
northern France were operating =nd did not consider it necessary to give out ane
other order. Turthermore, there hnd been & number of other fslse slarms prior
to this omne,

Q. '"as your reconnrisssnce hampered any in the days immediately prior to the
invesion?

A+ Tmfortunately we had no reguler sair raconnnissence because of the supsriori-
ty of your eir rover over the ares. Air reconnalesance was made perhaps every
fortnight, snd even then wes confined to photogravha of possible pointe of em-
barketion. Ses reconneissance was rather difficult ~lso; it wne Aifficult to
keep boats in the open sem vwhen the British Navy dominated thet sree.

Q. To you recall any of Fitler's aspecific corments immedi=tely prior to the
invesion?

A. Wore snd more in recent months, since FPi{tler had sssumed his role of mili-
tary exvert, he would talk =t grest length and in broad terms at the semi-daily
operstional meetinga. These meotings, =ttended by up to 20 high officers, would
be held at 1 P.M. nnd close to midnight. Hitler would speak honestly, but sel-
don Airectly to any indivicduels or individuasl. He would speak "out of the win-
dow", To answer your question, just before the invasion his line wnas that the
{mpending invagion of Prance "ould be the decisive event of the coming year,
Fitler meid: "Tt will decide the is-ue not only of the year gt of the whole war,
1f we suceeed in throwing back the invesion, then such en stempt cannot and will
not be rapeate’ witkin a short time. Tt will then mean that our reserves will I
be set free for use in Ttaly cnd the Tast. Then we can stabilize the front in the
Fnst ond oerhaps return to the off@nsive i{n that sector. If we don't throw the
{nveders bsck we eman't win & statie wer in the long run besause the m=teriel our
enemiea c¢en bring in will exceed what =a esn send to that front. We ecanrot win

« ptrtie war in the West for the ad’itional reason that each step backward means

n broedening of the front lines ncroas more of Prance. With no strategiec reserves
of sny invortance it will be imposible to build up sufficient strength nlong such
# 1ine., Therefore, the inveder must be tlrown back on his first attempt.”

®. "ag there envthing not »roviously ment{oned which handieapped vour efforta
on the doy of invzaton?

Ae Pommel) wzg not there.
¢. thy not®
A. T 3hould nrefer not $o mention this, but he had gone to der Puehrer's head-

) aquartera, end age it wns his wife's birthdey he stopped by his homa in Stuttgart
to see har., Therefore, when the invesion struck, Gener2l  rohimann, Commanding
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General of the Seventh Army, wes serving in Rommel'’s plece.

o ool sl ke e e i o e e JORI R R e o o ok ek e e i s A A ok ok ok o o ok e e ok okl ol e ok okl i el ok ok e e ok o e

PART TI.THE BATTLE OF NORVANTY

Q. What was the initial plan which the Germsns eprlied after the invesion struck?

As After the lsnding in Normendy we applied our plen, e had a pla: for the pos-
8ibility of invaeion in esch cese - Netherlends, Northeast Prence, MNormendy, Prit-
teny, Biscay - which would come into oper=tion st the moment of {nvasion. The
plans were mainly concerned with shifting reserves from one sector to another.

During the firat fortnight no troops were shifted from the 15th Army sector,
significant of the "half-measures"™ which ybre taken on & June 1944 to meet the
attack, :

The pursuit units of the Luftwaffe situated in germsny for the defense of
the fomelend were to be transferred to the West, There were 14 pursuit groups
which had to be trunsferred from Cermeny, This end the movement of the four
eymored divisions were carried out,

The third mecsurs, the shifting of infantry divisions from other sectors was
only carried through reluctently sznd fazr behing the plans we had made. Ve still
expected another landing against the 1Et: Army. where most of the infantry divisions
were collected. Another landing in Brittany waa feared.

At first two and later as meny s four divisions were ordered up to Normandy
but this took weeks, because the reilroads were damaged and the bridges over the
Seine end Loire were destroyed. Thus it took much more time than we had ever ex-
pected to get these diviéions to the battle zone.

Fven the armored divisions including those which Rommel had put in at Felaise
and around St., Lo, did not come up to the coest during the time we expected, sitce,
in spite of poor weather, it wes hardly possible to move more then 20 ¥Xm, & night,
Tn our plan we had anticipcted thet we would meske 100 ¥Xm, per night, The nights
wore very short in June. Thus our entire plan to concentrate these simored divi-
sions sgainst your main beschhead could not be carried out.

Q. To what extent were communications disrupted by the omretrocp landings?

A+ Co municetions suffered from locel {ntsrference, but on the whole T recsll
no report of {t; it was teken es one of the usual hazerdis of wer, They were
hampered alwsys by your Alr Fbrca)not parstroops.

Q. Wes there anything additionel on the meesures taken by you efter the landing?

A. Rundstedt, when esked for the disposition of Oberkommandovehruacht reserves,
reported on 6 June thet the first srmored division would reach the coszst on the
same night of 6 June and promised to get more as soon ss he could. They never
reached the coast end it took ther three to four days to reach the visinity of
Caen,

8o our first plsn of meeting your ettack fatiad, The arrored divisions were
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suppased to strike in & genersl nort weat direction from Qren =nd to wipe out
one beach-heed after esnother., After your twoc forces joined between Cszen and
Beyeux T had the improssion that your forces coming from the British Isles
could reinforce guicker than our forces coning from the rest of France. Our
armor came up too slowly for us to counter attack with theme di¥isions ra we
hed planned, We had all we could do to contain you on the beach-hend rnd keep
» eonnected line df Adefense,

On 7 June T left Hordgquarters on a trip to Cenersl Keaselring in Tately
whieh had been arranged before your landing and had to be carried out as he
vaa in a pretty bnd -osition, s0 T am not preeisely inforned on the events of
7th to 12%Y of June. During thet time, vrobably on 8 Jurne it hac¢ been decided
to transfar two asrmorad divisiona, the 9th and 10th £8 Psnzer Nivisions from
the Fest, to meet the attsck., This shows thet arlready on this date the forces
we hed originelly assembled there were insufficient to meet the atteck,

hen T esme back on 17 June T was informed that there w=s no telk of counter
sttacks any more. We had had haavy losses bringing the armored divisions up to
the line ond we were occunie’ rnintnining the line we hrd then reached.

Ne After you returned from Ttaly 17 June, what was the general plsn for contnin-
ing the beach<head?

A. OF course T wrs not tho only one disnsontiefied, and consuliations went on ms
to how to meet the mew eituntion, ¥itler nsked Runcéstedt for a plan. The main
thems of the solution wns that the armovrad divisions vhieh your attack hed come
ralled us to commit cn the line,contrary to their original funetion, should be
relieved ns soon as po-~sible by infantry divisions which were coming up to the
front; that at least 4 or maybe 6 armored divisions including those coming from
tha esatern front were to be assembled in the region southseat of St. 1o in the
big foreats, in order to carry out a counter attack in a northeast direotion
end separate the Aneriecsan end British forces in the vicinity of Baysux.

First, e now kmew low long it tock to move even n» short distance. Then
itler ropesiedly ordered the wipinge out a amall bridge-head of the British
over the Orne near Cnen, Hitler wanted this done first., Then we wera to push
forwar? ouft line of defenae on the Orme while mekdtpns the main effort toward
PayauX,. :

Tﬁ mid-Tune TJitler went to a meeting with Pomel and Rundstedt {n Prance
at n fort just north of sSoissons, where he had a Hesdnuarters prepare! lor the
eventu=lity of an Allie’ inveaion, The plans made trera were naver carried out
es we f-iled to -get out enough armored divisions to earry through this attaek,
The infentry divisions Adid not arrive soon enough. The armored di¥isions werse
st11l in the 1line ard aven the two from the ecstern front were cormitted in the
line. Ry the time the infantry ceme up the mrmored divisions had had sueh loases
that their strength wes ro longer equal to the task given tham,

Q. That efforts were mnie to vrevent our cutting off the Cotentin reninsula?
A. At T{rat e thought we should be sble to keep your airgorne units on the

wast of the Cotentin from joiring the mein force on the Frnt and hoped to an-
nihilete the troops on the weet side while contsining you on the Eest. Tn this
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way Cherbourg would be safe ~nd sn attack from the boach-heed reventecd. ‘uce-
denly you broke through and eatablished e line from thas ¥ gt to the Test of the
peninsulsa,

Qs After the stabilization of the framt slong the beach-hend 'n the fell of
Cherbourg, what was the Getmen plan of (efense in July?

2+ Tiret Y night mention one of HTitler's main ideas brought lor.ar: atl the
meeting which he held with Commender in Chiel VWest =nd hig top cormhnders at
Rrelhtesgaden on £5th to 26th June 1944, At this time ritler «'vanced the T
gestion for better protection =agrinet your air force raiis on tho battle froot.
He emplasized that in order to yrotaet the mein routes, cnti-rirersrt ‘e pons

uld not be dispersed all over the zone but concentrated 2long the main roads
snd at key points,

O+ Wes this sctuelly done, and where?

A. Hitler left the details of execution to the comranders, However, when Y
carie to the brattle front in early August, T discovered tlat the cournanders hed
not accomplished this because moast of the wesponskmhed been lost enroute, and
no mein routes sry longer ex{sted because ol the breaxthrough in Normandy,

Q. Did you still have hopes of contsining the beancheland during early July?

A. Tt wes regarded as retber a success thet a month and a half after vour ine
vasion operation we hed been able to limit your advances. This was not losing
sight of the fact that the loss of Cherbourg es a heavy blow to ue, increesing
our disadvantage. T recall sfter the full of Cherbourg 1'itler once said: " ook
et the space trey occupy now; what does it meen {n comunrison with the whole of
France™? Pput Hitlor may have been deluding his steff and it may not really have
been his conviction. He had not convinced ne, for it was svident that your for-
ces vwould not have been satiffied to keep this amall p-vt o/ FPrance but on the
contrary you were doing everything to enlarge it snd lsunch en operation with
far-sighted objectives. Yet 1itlerts orders nlweys svoke in tems of pinning
you down (2u Boden awingen), so as to contein you where you w= e,

Qs What meusures were taken regerding disposition of your troopa?

Ae Troops were brought up from the Vediterrenean cosst elthough z landiung wes
also expected there. Tresh divisions were brought up to relieve others, shifts
were mede, but the total number of trcors wes not {neressed. ‘e tried ag in
and aga!h to get the nrmored Zivisions out of the dofense line in order to corry
through counter stteoks szt least of : loesl chrrecter.

vhen vwe tried to prepare s counter-ctieck in the direction of Beyeux the ine
tention was also to pull out =ll peretroopera on the front in order %o gceonprny
the attaock with an airborns attack on tho main points of your beach-hesnd in order
to support the ground attack of the rrmored divieions. Tris remeined »n ides end
was never put into off'ect. Gooring wna bohind the plen dbut 1t wie not racticable.
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0. 7nid the situntion spverr any brighter for you at any time Auring enrly July?

A. Ye Vnew that lerpe resorves conld ba shifted from the Tnited States, and
thet you M:re able to build up your suprlies rapidly. Thus we were vrepared to
aexneet o atrong nttept of your forces to brosk through to the interior of
Fronce, o, the situntion never got veary ruch brighter for us, The avers-e
strangth of our infentry divisions seeamed to docline, sand of course the armored
Aiviaions A4d nlso, 'The situntion én the enatern front 214 not allow enough
infrntry 7{vist~ns to be vAthdrawn; reilw v transport wes bad; bridges were des-
troyed; it ws hardly nossible for me to move from place to place in r oar by
davrtime,

N. Do vou think of =ny nore specific exumnles regerding deliy in the movement
of divisions during this reriod?

Ae The 9th rnd 10th 598 tanrer Divisions, due to move to the western front
when the invesion struck, did not arrive, hneouse of transportation difficulties,
vntil 27 June,

0. "Vere t'ere any other Aiff{culties which yon experienced, whiech prevented
strengthening of the heach-hend line?

A. "hen wn strrted to move divisions from the 15th Army sector, it was often
found much essier to cor-it them eround our right flank near Ceen and the Orne
River, rather than moving them ~dditionel “istances to reinforce our wezkéning
laft flank opposite the Americer forces: The left wing got vory few reinforce-
mentas, and thoase came from treops moved down from the rittany peninsule, The
losses which the left wing suffered in the east-west dCtve which your forces
mede 2¢ross the Cotentin peninsulan were Wery great, end it oan be anid that the
left wing never racovered sufficiently Irom these losses,

0. (}bu]_d voun enploy eny exneddcnta to strengthen vour left wing?

L. e weve never Milly ncotiafied furing Tuly with our situntion on the left
vinge & rliays felt that we would noed more time in order to regroup our fore
ees thera, Tn an ottenpt to shorten our line, we tried to make meximm use of
retursl obat-eles, mich =s the inundrted and gwampy groung near C-renten, T.ike-
wise, we tried to anchor our laft flsnk on the inlet near lessay, which would
further shorten the line ond necessitste leas troons, Tven with this, we were
slways i{t'ery sbwut our line —wat of at. 10.

kbbbt ekt kRt bk ok k& e ckdokdokodoldok R ¢ dokok ok okododatlolok ok bk el

PART III CIERBOIIRG

Ne “het -lons ware rede to nrevent our forces from roving on Crerbourz ofter
the Cotentin peninsuln 1+ boen cut?
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A. Now r big nmistake wr:g meda, Tre locsl cormancing otficers h:d beer or-
dered that the troops wers to move towsrds Cherbourg in order to aid in its
defense, in cssoe the Cotentin veninsuls wag threctened with beinz ocut off,

They were uneble to prevent the troops retreating fouth to avold encirclament,
Tf this had not heppened there would beve been snother division to defend Cher-
bourg, There was probably no officiel decision to move Soutl, just the eircun-
stances of the situation., None of the higher officers ever :ccanted rasronsi-
- bility for i%. Tt had been assumed the troops would retrest Worth snd help de-
fend Cherbourg.

Qs Wes there any plan %o counterattack and bresk through to the troops cut off
in the Cotentin peninsula?

As A% this time you carried through your attack on the west coast and cut off
the Cotentin peninsula. On 24 June Hitler gave the following order; "Tr eddi-
tion %o the plans which are to bs made for the BRyedx attack, you must strilke
into the rear of the First American Army =dvancing on Cherbourg and relieve
Cherbdourg™., :

The Commander-in-Chief, “est, Rundstedt, reported st once thot he did not
think such an att=ok was passible at all, as ell routez to the Cotentin vere
under observation and the fire of your plenes. Rundstedt said {t would be ime
possible to bring the neceasary sup-lies even to proprre for such am atteek into
this region, anf 1t would be more difficult the further it rrogressed. But thece
remonstretions were not token into consideration by Hitler. Ilitler ssked o sce
Romnel, Tven Rommel came to the same conclusion and deelared that he wrs of the
same opinion 2s Rundtedt snd that it would be entirely imposaible to carry through
this attack, Hitler was not convinced by these opinions, He wont on +ith his
orders but in the meantime Cherbourg was capture) and the plen fell to pleces
again, The plan Wnd been NHitler's own.

Qs TIn view of the later ex erisnce with the defenders 1" vorts such as Breast,
Cherbourgivs -urrendered after & reletively slort gight. Vvhy waan't the siege
prolonged? ,

A. Tt was essumod that Cherbourg, like any other fortresa, would Yold out for
@ long time. Now we had only ebout 20,000 men on a front of 20 to 40 n, and
this force had to meet the stimck of an entire Americen Arymy, This wa due to
(2) the necessity of cefending a plece on =n extended line, & long land front,
and (b) leck of troops, es we could not hnve a bigger errrison there end still
defead the entire coast line,

Hesdouarters assumed the Cotentin troops would o1l beck on Crtarbourg but
it had not planned on any su--lies for such sdditional tro P8. TFven had the
other troops fallen back on Cherbourg ws sbould soon hsve run short of supplies
there, Certein czlibors of a unition wers =lso out of stocr end short,

Q. Could any supnrlies be boought in by sea to Cherboury?

As Supplies were brought in from St, 't lo »n’ the Chani el Tslends on I=-bo=la,
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Qs "ere you satisfied with the extent to which the fort{fications at cherbourg
hrd besn completed?

A+ The fortifications of Chorhourgﬁrﬂre gor? and almoat complete, but $he lend
defenzes were far from complete, just & forw vositions on » line of olmost 40 ®m,
The defenses were orizin=lly construeted on the mssumption of en attack from the
28,

Qs Townrd the end of June, were eny rdditional efforte —cde to reinforce the
garrigon a2t Cherbourg?

k. Ve male sevarsl plons to reinforce the forces Nefending Cherbourg bub we 414
not succeed, Fitler d14 not want to tske any forces fremt the Chonnel Telands,
™2 had no ~ir field left on which to land forces from the air, The navy offered
to ship troopa from 8t. '»lo but this was clreedy too l-te,

te m™a the fortress itself €nll guicker than you bn? antiecipeteds

As We reckomed tlet Cherbourg would behave an a fortress nnd trat 1t would re-
uire ~ certain kind of sttaek, ™o felt that with all 1ta fortifications = great
delay in time would follow, <o that we naver thought that cherbourg would be taken
by you as auickly =s it wnas, :
Qs+ To you belleve that General von Schlieben, the milit~ry comnnder of Chere
bourg, fully spprecisted the teetienl significence of the port and how urgently
we neaded 1t ih order to ship surplies? Perhaps 1f he had "ully aprrociated this
foct, he might heve defended Cherbourg more vigorously,

Ae T e convinced thot @aner=l von fchliebe’ and his Ligher officeras aprrecicted
the imporinnee of Cherbourm. Tere 1a the rnsson T em convinced: in *'nrch or
Anril of 1944, Pitler cmlled - mreting of the commrfders of all the big ports,
at Berchtesgaden, Thre puroose of this ~eeting wee to look over esch of these
cormanders to judge #Q‘ﬁ& conenrence nnd loyrlty, and to impress them with the
peremount imoortance of holding their porta ~nd herbors, To {llustrate the high
velue vhioh Fitler pleced én this, several of the comenders were pemoved after
the Rerchtesgnden meetings., vPresent thare were the commanders from Toulons,
¥-=seilles, “ate, ~ironde, St, Nazsire, Torient, Rrest, st. ¥alo, the Chanrel
T<lands, Cherb-urg, T.e Havra, Doulozne, Calrig, Tunkerqus, Mntwerp, and the port
for mmaterdem,

Ce At tris meeting, were any specinl instruetions glven regoarding cherbourg?

A, Yo, because e were not yet convineed that 1t would play a najor role in
your invaeion,

2. "hich commenders were chanpged rt the meating?

Ae T ocmnnot he exact on that detsil. But to illusteate the way in which der
Tuehrer chose lig commanders, let me point out the way General Remcke 'ms selected
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to command Brest. When he brought his 2nd Parachute Division inte Brest,
Bitler shortly heard sbout the fact that Oeneral Ramcke was there. He knew
general Ramcke betier tham the officer in command, so he said; "Certcinly there
¢an be no better man than Ramecke; put him in ocommand imredistely." So the fore
mer commanding officer wns subordinated to General Remcke a3 second in commaend,

Q. Did that raise any ombarrasssments in rani?

A+ Renk or seniority so fer as command wes concerned never ade any difference
to Fitler in choosing his commanders,

Q. What wag Fitler's reaction upon khe fall of Cherbourg?

A. He regarded it =28 & heavy loss to the ceuse, I did nct rfeel thst Ceneral

von Schlieben had put up & very determined defense of the port. Wany times there-
after he held up General von Schlieben as an exsmple of a poor conmander, end cone
stantly pointed to von fulock and Ramcke rng exsmples of great comanders who had
fought determinedly to kold out @s long as possible us St. “alo +ud Brest.
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PART XV RFPLACEMENT OF VOR RUNDSTEDT (Pt June 1344)

Q. "hy did General von Kluge replace General von Rundstedt as Commander in
Chief West?

A. A second reeting took place between Hitler and the Commander in Chief of
the West ebout the £5th to 26th June at Berchtesgeden, The first meeting had
been ebout the middle of Juyne in the néighborhood of Soissons, Rundstedt wes
still commander at the time of this meeting ind perhaps the impression he made
(health &0) on this occasion w:s the reason for his being replaced by von Yluge.
Rommel slso took pert in this conference; Sperrl wes there (Cormender in Chief
of 3rd Air Yorce Flect),

On 28 June Field Mershal von Kluge took over the command, One had the ime
pression et Heedquarters that Rundstedt was tired and worn out, conesidering his
sge, and that a younger mean would perhape be better on the spot st thet time,
Rundstedt was not scotually blamed for your successes,

Qs Whet wes the difference is military philosophy between von Kluge and von
Rundstedt?

Ae Von Klugts iders were no Jifferent and represented no sharp break in philo-
sophy. Fe had been in the East up to that time, and on his way back fron the
Tast he had been taken to Bitler's hesdguarters for a number of days. 't a
number of conferences there, von luge got the same ideas Hitler had been ur-
ging and this then wes 2 continuity of command from von Rundstedt, However,

as T shall tell you, von Fluge later fell into dislavor with Ritler during August,

ttt*ttt***t*‘kttttt-m#ttt*#**t##*#**'~§E‘6P'E!!y%**t*t#*t*#t***a#tmt**tt**t*t*
1
f = —

¢



SECRET

Taterviewa with "arliront, pege 13

PART V. FNOZANDY PRFAXTIROUGH ~nd YORTATN COUNTFRATTACK

N+ Vhere did you exvect, prior to 4 July, that our troops sould bresk out
of Normandy?

Ae Tespite the fact thet we had the constant feeling that our left flank was
weak, we expectod your brenk-through on the eassterm wing of the whole front,
near Ceen. e had observed s strong concentration of British troops and not
such # big concontration in west Normandy. ve recognizad thet the second most
import nt point might lie South of the bese of the Cotentin, T cannot pin-point
any more spercifie nlace where we expacted the Cotentin atteck,

0. Vhet interpretntion wms placed on the Allie” bombing on 24 July near St.Lo?

4. T bnve no roaction to that cuvestion, Perhaps you cen get an appraisal from
the commanders in the Tisld.

0. "hen the break-through started, it w=s oup intention to cut southwest to

~ the const end cut off your left flank fscing our VITT Corpa. Thore was a feel-
ing eround VITI Corps Hemdquarters that you ha’ suacesded in breaking contact
ond extriceting some troops from the trap. ™o you know how many?

A. "hen the objéctive of your attack beeane spparent, a2s it did early in the
operation, orders were given to our troops to withdraw along the flank faeing
“your VITT Corps, FHow many of them succeeded in eseering from the pocked is not
known to me. Towevor, there ia one significant factt the 17th SS Psnzer Division,
which wag the only nv-{leble Seventli Amiy reserve, and which was sup-osed to be
the backbone of our defense from Vire west to tho eea, wes virtuaslly swallowed
up in the breakthrough., YNobtody ever knew or could (igure out what happened to
it, deanite frantic inquiries, N=turally we were even mor~ interosted in this
Aivision because the subject of the Tighting qurlities of =n 88 division wers a
"ot iron® - sovething you could not touch, Fitler wrs {nclined to believe
overytrins vhich was favorable about his §3 troops. Ne nover pemitted any re-
rroach ogoinat his "blockgueris®,

De After the breskthrough had started, in which direction 414 you feel it was
heading, =nd whet meeeuros wore teken {n an attempt to bloeck 1t?

A. 7hen you spproached Avranches, (eneral von Kluge wes given urgent orders to
prevent any peretrstion into fvranches. Tverybody saw that the whole front in
Normandy ‘#as bresking up, Troope from Rrittany were rushed in an effort to bar
the way into Avranches, Considersnble troops were lost trying to atop the way
into Avrenches, e felt that your primary objectives was then going to be Prit-
tany, »nd we were fooled when you turned Fest townrd Lavel and I.e Mans,

0. thet operational plan was instituted after the breakthrough?
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A+ e had no over-all operatiomal plen in nind, Our zole @im v @ to Faen
down the bree:through at any point as errly =s possible,

Q. 'hat reserve defonse lines were sveilable to fell bee: on?

A. TUp until this potnt, all commanders who rentioned the posaibility of cone
structing & line along the TJeine wore leughed oi'f, liow on 41 July, when the
penetration had already tuken place, we had no resarve lines in Frernce : ¢ all,
The only preperetion thiat had been made wr: thet a reconnsisssnce wes conducted
some months before; the Oberkormeandowehr Fad recomnoiters’ the “eire ra a 108~
sidble dofense line and concluded thet is was unsutisinctory because of the reany
windings along the lower river, Tt had been ‘urther concluded that the best
line could be constructed alonz tlie Somie, Warne southenst of Perig, ~rd Saone
Rivers, On one of the days between 25 nnd 31 Tuly, General Xitzinzer reported
to FAitler to receive inastructions in his role us milit: vy sovernor of vapis,
The appointment of Gsnersl Xitzinger marked the end of the concs: tion of Paris
88 as adninistrative center alone, «nd the start of {ts role in the military
sense, Tn addition to governing Paris feneral ¥itzingsr v-s instructed tret

in sddition to his duties es governor of Prris he would be resonsible ‘or
building up the defenses with the essistance of Orpanization Todt of the Somme-
Marne-Seone Line,

Qs Did Hitler have =ry rocction to the breskthrough in Mormandy?

A« Yes, Tn the Ushrvrchisfushrunggteb e hed slvwys maintaine trat 1t was
nece:sary to send someone to the front to see the amy ntalf =nd et a better
ricture of vhat was going on, Finzlly «fter the breakthrough, Hitler decided
to send someone, Towever, Jodl then racd to virtuslly extract instructions from
Fitler for this mission, Al)l he initially dirocted was tp look end to report
back end i{n genercl to sce that nll wae being Aone to restitute our ahettercd
front on our left wing, T wee selected for the mission to go to Normandy r~n?
gee Ceneral von Xluge. By tlis time, Ro~ el h&d had his sarious neeidert,

Q. When was that accident?

A Tt happenecd on 18 July 1944, vher his cer wee strefed and ran into s tree,
The accident occurred close to Briouze, between Mers and 'rgenten, After the
accident, von Xluge ssiumed the dusl role of Cérmander in Chief ''est snd ROM=
mel's former position in cammand on Army Group mnw,

Q. Did you receive uny edditionel instructions from eitlier 1itler or Jodl be-
fore you left for Normandy?

Ae On the night of 31 July, the night vefore T left, Fitler crlled in Qenerasl
Jodl, myself end one of the others of the sta’fg and exploined consider-tions
as # whole concarning the campai~n in the Mest., He now anoke more chaorfully
about the possibilities of retrecting into interior France, in contr-st to vhat
he had initially steted sbout the bro-dening of our lines as & resvlt of sueh
a withdrawal, He stzted that there were certain adventazes to falling hugk to
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the 1ine in tre interior of France, provided thet all the services of the occu-
pied territory of Prance could be put to the Millest use for duty with the come
brt troops, Fe tren apoke in more general tarmas of the necessity of stebilizing
the front in the Tost snd in Ttely, even if {t were noces==ry to fall beek bohind #
the Apennines, Then ha snoke of what a difficult Aecision it wns to make to fall
back Trom the const, for the following rea-oms: (1) it would mean the nbandonment
of the subnarine b=2e¢ along tha French coast; (2) certain minernls, such s volfe
ram, would ba eiven up; (3) comunications with Spain »nd Portugal would be weake
ened. Te commented that moat of the divisions in the coastel nrea, or in any

pert of Prance, ware ALfficult to move lyeemuse of the shortage of motor ears and
horses, Ve streased agein that the only way to move troops vme to teske the means
of mevement from the oconpied country, n poliey which sm you know had been repeate
adly »inliad on previous oocariona, Fe granted that the Tnftwalfe was hardly
strong enough to protect the movement of Gemman divisions in PFrance,

Q. Did Titler give any inatPuctions on the establishment of Adefense lines in
interior France?

A. ¥e waa nuite definite and emphrtic on that subject. He gaVE gtriet orders to
me not to speak a vord to von Kluge shbout any movement backwards, "Look only to
the Weat™ was the constant theme cf his Jdiscourse, T{tler further ordered that
if von ¥luge aquestioned me about these defense lines T should reply that von Kluge
should not worry himself about such dot~ils, ani that higher headquarters would
take coere of building up sny necessary linea in the rear to which the nrmy might
have to fall back, T might add that P:tler also instructed the Armed Porces Oper-
rtiona 8taff to set up e sgvecial sub-unit for the purposes of building up the ‘e
fense of interior Prance, Of course Jodl did not Ao that, becruse we already hed
the meens and the orpenizetion to Ao 1t, Refore T left for Normandy, Mitler fur-
ther wnrmed that von ¥luge not be told about the Aefense preparations in interior
Prance, Fitler n=de the furthar comment on this subject: "¥henever a2 line of de-
fense iz bujlt-back of the front line, my penerals think nothing but of going baek
to that linan,

Q. Did general Jodl sgive any Murther inestructions defore you laft?

As YO

0. Yhen d4d vou leave and whera did you 'go?

- Ae T left by prlaje on the aftarnoon of 1 August, To {llustrate the extent to
which your oir force had superiority, T woe not allowed to take a plame beyond
“trnsbourg and had to pronedd by car frorm there to Paris., After reporting brief-
ly at St, Germain, Hoedquartsra ‘or Comrande» in Chief "est, T procceded to l.a
Roche Cuyon on the Zeine, where von Wluge had his headquerters in his eapacity
8 commender of Army Group "R", That is about an hour's drive from St. Cermain
by ecar, snd T arrived thare just dbefore midnight on ? August,

Oe 'hat were von Klugle plans concerning the breakthrough?

A. Ye was of course grently concerned with the situation at Avranches, Fe
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thought he might be eble to keep the corridor to Avranches small, end &t thae
same time nttempt to prevert further penetration into the Brittany peninsule,
MYy first dey was spent st Le Roclie Guyon, #nd then T went on to visit General
Eberbrach in charge of the 5tb Panzor Army, which wes still rolding our {ntset
right wing near Cren, T elso telked with Sepp nietrich in that arsn,

Q. What wes the general feeling there?

A. All of the commanders wero discoursged by your over.owering «ir force, They
sald thet vhenever they plenned anything 1t wes impossible to exccute «ndéd con-
trol because our oir force spotted snd attacked every movement.

O« What seemed to be Generel von Klugds plun ror checicing the broakthrough?

A. TFarly on the moerting of 4 August, T received a onll to come to Cenerul von
¥lugd s headquarters. General von Kluge wus quite excited beccuse re hoa Just
received an order from Fitler to concentrate zll the urmored Aivisions ke could
muster along any nector of the front, to essemble them somewhere e st of ‘vrenches,
snd to attack west and cut oft the American rorces which hed in meantime pene-
trated =t and ecst of Avranches, vVon Kluge weas urtlier ordcred to restitute o
defense line vith our left wing close %0 Avranches,

Q. Did this order come from Perchtespgnaden?

As YNoj; becruse of the oriticnl aitustion ““ieh wrs tren develoring ir the pest
Hitler hed moved his hesdrusrters on 14 July from Rerchtosgaden to Ragtendburg
in Rast Prussia,

0. Vhat was Qenersl von Tluge's recction to the iiee?

A. PFe had considered the POssibility of malking suel an «tteek himcell; 1t was

& netubel consideration. Put ke felt he could not hold the 1ire uné X the

same time launch the counterattack. Tt was en esasy thing to see on the nan,
looking &t the amall hottleneck through Avranches through which vour rorces had
advanced, Fitler mnde his deeiesion obviously fron = map, without teking into
consideration the datfficultics involved in the fi{eld of oxecuting the ‘ecigion,
The idea {tself wes Sound, but Fitler's insistence on supervisigg the grallest
details of the counterattack ceused 1t to turn into s discater rdn us. (7t this
point, General “arlimont lesned baox in ha chair cnd mused to himself: "tgain
*nd again the same thing, 1itler £r aps an operetioncl idse, witlout slving
eny consideration vhatsocever to the necessary mesns, the necessary time nnc
space, troops end surplies, Those spe the funirmentel elerents of' sty tegy
which are nagesanry for success, but Fitler rorely took tham into cousideration, )

Qe Fow did General von Xluge organize the counter:tteci?

A. Genersl von Punck, Cormender of the YLVIT ‘“enzer Corps, wes initially pl:eeq
in charge of organi ing the countersttook, ‘t the l:st zirmte, Nowover, i fter
von Funek had femilirrized himself with 2ll tre nlans, knew the terrcin, ond
was all set to attack on the moraing of 7 August, von Fune: o= rerliced by
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General Fberbach, This ~ms ‘one on Airsct order of Hitler to wvon ¥luge,
0. Thy s von Tunck repleced at the last moment?

Ae Tt {8 » long story, but indiiestive of the way in which Hitler operated.
Aftor Orrzirni's severe defeat at Mersa »atruh et the end of 1940, 1t behooved
tha German ~rmy to bail out the Ttallans in Afrie=z. Von PBrasuchitseh sent wvon
Tunck to Africe ns the first Cemnan reconnoitering officer. Vhen von Punck re-
turned, he had to renort to llitler., Hitler then discoverad that ho had at one
time been a parsonal staff officer of Genersl von Fritach, who was 4in disgrace
vith Pitler. Therefore, von Munck wnz replaced by kormel, wxho beeame the hero
of rfrien, Tikewise, "hen Fytler took 2 person2l interest in the counterattack
toward Avrancles he diescovered that von Punck w=s in eormand and ordered him
roplaced. '

0. het wnz General Tbarbach's baokground?

A« GQeneral Tborbach bad commanded the 5th Panzer Ammy. 7Je wes originally on
the staf? of Cenern! Proiherr von Gaysr, Tnopector of the Armored Forges in the
Wast. Geyer wnz made Comnander in Chief of the Prnzergruppe West. Goyerts staff
was aimonp complately miped out during the first days of the invasion, somewhere
sround Cren., ‘feyver tried to nersusde Pundstedt (Comender in Chief Weat) that
i1t would be impossible to maintain the line for o longerfime. Already in June
fever rdvised withdrewing to resar lines in Frence. Rundstedt vnfortunately.re-
ported thie opinion to Nemadquarters. Oeyer was at once relieved of his position
snd Genersl Fharbaoh took his plece. 1le w2 reputed to be s successful leader
of Armored troops. Chortly oftemmris this commend, originslly created to meet
the invesion, na made n reculer command and recelved the name of the 5th Panzer
{Armored) Army.

~. Thot other considerations were involved in Launching the counterattack?

A, TFvery individusl commsuder involvec in plenning for the oper=tion took =
brord-minded view, end oullec togetler for the success of the plon, TFirst Gene
ernl von "luge tolephoned Genersl Fberbec), who was then lolding tre right flank
nesr Ceon, told him ol the vlan and reked him what troops he could supnly, Gene
erzl Fberbabh s~id it would be possible to send down forces amounting to & dive
fsion and = half. Von Kluge then vulled other forces out of the ecenter sector
“*{eh vre under control of the Seventh Army (Genernsl Frusser),

0. “"hot plong vere discussed for the countersttack, »nd why was the final plan
chogen”

A, #t noon of 4 puguat, = confrerence wne held st the "eventh Army Headquarters
of Genernl Frusser. There T learned that two math propossls were under discuse
sion, ons cormine from Vitler himeelf rnd the other from General von Funck, The
difference centered on where the mssambly aree was to be. litlerts pyoposal
(which weo eventuelly adopted) wae that the nesembly nrea be in the vieinity of
fourcevalefortain for s thrust directly esstward, Von Punck argued for acssemdly
in the vieinity of ot. "{laire because of two factors: (1) it wae felt thsat
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assembly in Sourdeval wus dengerously close to the center of the front, and

might be broken up by eip attack; (2) in von iuncig' opinion, we would be eoxr ect-
ing en attack from the East, and en attack from the Southerst would uachieve
greeter surprise, The mein resson ‘hy the Sourdevel-Yortain ares s pleked

was that time was rrecious, and it would tske longer to move the nacessayy ivie
sione down to St, Nilaire,

Qs Ceptured information seems to indioate that one olsn considered oslled for
an attack from the Northeast, Why wes this sbandoned?

A+ Tn none of the discussions in vhioh T perticiunted did 1 understand such a
plen had been considered, The only suggestion T can offer is thet someone felt
such an attack could be carried out even quicker through un eurlier arrivel of
divisions from the North.

Qs Vas anything new added to reinforce the attack?

A, "Hitler maeds the promise, which T relayed, that he would do his utmost to
reinforce the Luftwaffe to support the t/ortain countersttack, He authorized

me to state that for the purposes of the countorattack he had decided to set
agide his idea that the pPrimery use of the Luftwa/re should be in fefense of the
homeland, At thet time it had been decided thet {nsteed of employinz the Tuft-
waffe in driblets 1t would be held back until 1,000 pursuit planes could be
utilized on a grand so=le., Such e number was provised for the counteruttack,

Qe Did this make the assembled commenders feel any better in view of our recent
demonsteations of air superiority?

A, No, it did not make them feel very much better because they had been de-
ceived so many times in the past, snd they felt that they would probebly be de=
ceived =gain (us they were), '

Qs Was there anything in the planning and execution of the counteratteck .hich
influenced its failure?

A+ Von Kluge was very much concerned that he wouli come tuo lste with the
counterattack, ¥He quickly recognized that your Third Armmy wes turning esstwerd
end heading towerd his main supply bzse at Le Wans, thereby endengering the en-
tire front in norbhern Frence end not along the assembly urea, 90 he wented to
launch the conterattack es early as rossible. On the afternoon of 5 fugusat, von
Kluge =nd T want to St, Germain, where we conferred with Field Marshel Sperrler,
Chief of the Luftweffe in France, the Cowrander in Chief of the Navy, and the
militery governor of Peris, Genoral ¥itzinger, The purpose of tle meeting wes
to talk over what sup ort could be given to the countersttack which in the opine
ion of all concerned would decide the fate of the Geman fymy in France. on 6
August, Y was called to the telephore by Cenerel Jodl, ~nd it wus aprarent that
those in command back nt bheadguarters did not Tully appreciate the extent of the
American breeskthrough snd did not exactly take & realistic view of the Aiff{e
culties under which von Kluge was operating, T was ordered to ey that pitler
directed that the countersttsck would achieve more success 1t it waited until
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avery plane end armored ear had been azsembled; he seid not to worry obout the
gpreed of the Ameriocsn penetration, because that would mean that we could alice
off that much more; he directad thet no effort be made to gain time by sterting
the counteratteck befors everything was in ocomplete rerciness,

fe "hat vam von K]uﬁiv roaotion to these orders?

Ae Oenernl von ¥luge mrintained that 1t was impossible to wait eny longer than
7 August or he would be eneircled by the Ameriesn drive to the Pant,

Cs Do you feel thet Fitlerts {nto-ferencs crused the fellure of the counterattacke

A« T®luge end all the other men T Aapoke to during those days were possesaed by
the feeling that everything depended non the succens 68 this counterattack on
Avrenches. All the genersls geve up troops for {t with the convietion that 1t
would decide the issue in Normandy cnd in the whole of France, Tt was a crushing
blow to me when T came back to Eest Prussia on & Mgust 1o report my experiences
Yo mitler. rmitler listened to me for almost en hour and after T had tried to
point out the striving by everybody to make it succeed, he only said: "He did
that deliberately (meaning von Rluge). He did 1t to show me that my orders were
incarable ol being performed.®

Qe Tere any of the divisions employed in the Mortain counterattaok below strength?

A. Ferdly one of the arrored divisions employed was up to strength., Tor X~
ample, the ?nd Panzer Division hed only 12 to 15 rrmored ¢ars. Tho divisions hnd
suffere meny crsualties Bnd ha@ hed little oprortunity to be reorganized,

R+ "hat wes the germen plen nfter the failure of the vortsin countsrattacke

Ae On E fAugust when T returned to hesdquerters in Tast Pruasie, General PRuhle
had just been sent awey to Kluge in order to find out whether he vould be able
to continue the counteratteci sfter the first feilure or what other plans he
could sugrest to restore the situstion, 111s mission wes asimiler to mine. He
wae to go end {nform himself, but this time Buhle wns sent by Hitler himself,

T was angry becsuse it would hnve been ensier to tel@phone to me and instruect
me (while Y was still in Prris) to go there. Buhle left llsadquarters in gast
Prussie the same «u& 28 T 1eft Prris to go beek, TPuhle left on the evening
of 7 August when the failure of the sttack haa been recognized, Te reached von
7luge on the morning of the 8th, ent from I,n Roche Cuyon to Alencon where Kluge
had bis temnorary hesdquarters for the counterattask, At the time of the attack
Zluge and Vausser wera near Flers, ;

The idea of the new plan was to agserble the remnantas of the seme forces
which had failed in the drive towsrds Avranches in the Foret Andine nesr Nomfront
and strike from here in a routheast Aipection to hit your columna which had brokéa
through towards T.e Mens and cut their communications, The plen was never e=rried
outs Kluge objected thut it would take him a week to carry through such am as-
senbling of troops in the Andine. This contrasted with hie impatience before,
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He made his objeetion probably on the day he received the order, 8 August, T do
not believe he ever succeeded in assembling more than & few small units of the
divisions involved in the rlan to forn en "Attack group®™. Your Arive through
Le Mans to Alengon made it impossidle to earry out the plan,

Qs Were there any other personel int:rferences by Hitler with the projected
countaersttack toward Le Mans?

A. Von ¥luge wnanted to stay in the rcglon REust of Domiront, whereas Vitler
seeing once agnin his own point of view only and not seeing the movements of the
enemy, ttted to have this essembly evee much farther fout!east, Fitler was right
in meintaining 1t would be good to extend our left wing ag far South =s nossibdle
to provent you pressing our left wing into the main front,

"hen your drive turned North end reesched Alengon it became clesr that our
counterettack could not be cerried out, but it mlso became clear thet the danger
for the whole front had become almost insurmountable, I'itler still clung to the
idea of a counterattack, telling his ™advisers" that now thet you had turned
North its success would be much greater, if only von Fluge would finelly start
if offT, :

Once Lo Mans had been taken von Kluge could not carry out the operstion. Fe
had insufficient men and insufficient time to prepare & counter atteck of these
dimensions (importance).

Hitler still persisted in his idos of a counteretisck until tre Eritish et
Caen met you coming from Alengon. Fed it not been for this idea the Comnander
in Cchief could have done what ome would expect and pull beck his front in time,
thus avoiding the heavy losses we had afterwsrds,

- Qo What steps were taken in the Loire region as our troops gwung North towerd

Argentan?

A. The rogion North of the Loire was grecually evaouated, troops being withdravm
to the East as you =dvenced, Tropps were kept on the South bank to protect the
bridgeheads end river crossings and the main towns.

There had not been many troops North of the Loire, mostly administrative ine
stallations end very few combat troops.

All the troops in Britteny which hed not been sent to Avranches wvare with-
drewn into the ports,

Qs What instructions were given regarding the ports?

A. Before the invesion the ideas had been to Yortify the harbors c mpletely,
But the idea that they were to be held after the rest of the country had been
oevacuated only ceme up at the end when we hed to retreat, At first the order
applied to Brittany on¥y, but then to ¢ll the Frenech ports.

Qs Vhat sbout the Channel Tslands?

A, FHitler thought it wus the primery British eim to recover the only pritish
territory under German rule., Fe mads a point of prestige to keep {t, Hys second
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renson was that they were well suited from a military point of view to protect
the wnat comat of Normandy esgeoinast direct attack, bdut this was ~nly secondary.
Mo forces were ever withdrawn from the Chanel Islands to reinforee Normandy.
mundstedt sugpested it saveral times but it wna declined emphatically by Hitler.
The Cliannel Tslands were the first rlaces to be really fortified with every
mo=ns et our disposal,

0. Were cny reinforcements brought up to check en enticiprted esstrmrd drive
a’ter we reached Lo '"ana?

A. Tresh combet troops were brought un to hold up your drive Pnst from Te Mens,
General Tuntzen (8lst Corps) came with one or two divisions from the 15th Amy
which were committed between Alengon rnd Le Mpns, fronting West. Another vms
dispatehed vp from the Jouth, So the left wing was grestly extended to the South.

One divieion =sm from the North and enother from the Mediterrsnean hacd come
up #nd they weroe lined up on & front facing Test between the Sarthe River and the
Loire. Tuntzen's forces were cssembpled so as to build up & thin line egeinst
your nossible drive to the Rast, '

N. Precisely when did you become convinced that no further landing would take
plece?

A. The conviction that no Turther lending on the Channel wes coming developed
gradually, es we scow thst more and more divisions were brought over by you to
rormandy and the number of divisions remsining in Pndlend wes no longer enough
for an independent landing in anotber direction. This wrs realized prior to your
penetration to Le Mans. Tt ceme in the cours of July. We were able to identify
(count) every division as soon na it esme over (e.g. from prisoners. We had the
{mpresaion thet at first you right have hed it in mind to stert another opera-
tion but after finding so rmuoh resistance in Normandy (it took you alrost two
montks to get througr), perhaps you changed your plens end committed ell your
forces there,

6. "hat xind of intelligenca of our movenents did you maintein in Pngland?

A. Our intelligence sarvice had come bases in Tngland, but to be entirely frank
T could no% tell you what kind they were, During the first years of the War,
Admiral Xsn=ris wen hesd of the Tntelligence, Terly in 1944 all intelligence
services wers turned over to Fimmler who was in charge, These men had no mili.
tary education and were unable to evaluste the meaning or importence of militery
information that came in, ¥rnardis wes en officer of long standing and very well
informed and knew the wvalue of the information he got. The tranafer of intel-
ligence to tha 88 d4id us » lot of hrrm,

Himmler wrs on Fanaris! treil for 2 long time and tried to prove some fault
in him. Tn the summer of 1943 Him~ler charged him with finaneial irregulerities,
but ¥enoris was c¢lesred bv the end of 1943. An intelligence agent in Turkey
went over to the enemy snd on this pretext Hirmler replaced Kanaris, who got an-
other job in the Oberkormandowehr. On 20 July 1944 Knnaris was arrested end in
February or March 1945 was murdered by the 83.
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PART VY. THE FALL of PARTS =nd the RFTRWAT TOWARD THE GFRMAN BORNFR

. Qs Did Peris ever play & key part i{n your general deflense plan®

A, On 6 pugust T had a disoussion with General ¥itzinger, the wi{litary Governor
of Paris, Te had just arrived, after reporting to Kitler mnd receiving zonersl
orders for the whole administration in Frence mnd & special mission beycnd lis

oggzal activities, nsmely to duild up the fortification line of the Sorme-Marne-
L]

Oon this day Kitzinger had just concluded discussions with the Organization
Todt end other people, for their employment in this task, Tt is olear that it
was much 0o lete to begin such an undertaking at sll, 7Plans were made in & hur-
ry between his report to Hitler several days before and ¢ August when Y met him,
So, when your troops came t0 the Somme-Mzrne-Szone line in the second halfl of
August nothing had been done or ocould heve been cone by that dute,

On this occesion T learned from Kitzinger thet a new commandent of Paris had
been appointed, General vor Choltitz, Tris had taken plece during my absence from

Headquarters, The idea behind this appcintment wes to make Peris defengible
against attack, Tp to that time the Comnandant of Parig wes more or less a n
adninistrative officer. Choliitz probably had not yet arrived but took charge
vosaibly 7 or 8 Augus$, Choltitz had more complete euthority, much mora than
his predecessor. His main task was %o propzre defenses for Paris by building
field fortifications on the main routes into Peris from the West, preparing %o
blow up the Paris Seine bridges, He was slso ordered to suppress the resistance
movement of the Paris population with all the militery force he could muster Tor
the purpose.

Choltitz hed smple suthority over ell installetions end personnel of army,
ravy end aiyr force (never before cttempted in prris), The nevy had its Nigh
Command i{n the Ministry of Warine on the Place de la Concorde, opposite the Hotel
crillon, ever simce the beginning., Tt liad Headouarters personnel, comruniocution
units, end there were always large numbers of navy men in paris,

Thus Choltitz, es wes sc often the cuse, nmow got =1l the obligetions ut no
forceswith which to carry them out. Therefore, Le w:s uneble %o defend Paris
with any proppect of success,

Qs Wes he given any guthority to rcke & truce with the Resistance Movement ox
to surrender the city?

A. BHe wsas euthorized to do neither,
Q. What was Hitler's object in holding on to Parls? Prestige value? -

A. Eis object in holding on to Paris was not 80 much prastige as to prevent you
getting the routes leading No¥th from Peris end from e fear that you would push
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vorth before it weas possible to evacuate the coastline betwsen the Seine and
somme. Thus the retention of Paris was to some degree militaril justifiadle.

Fitler believed your rmain elfort would he direoted againat Prris and re-
taining Prries would in itself influence your dfive =long the whole Seims front.

“odel baliesved 1% wma impossible to defend Parie with the modest means and
waak fTorcea at his didoos2l, He propoasnd to build up = line of defanse to the
North and Frat of Paris to bar the main routes runuing out of Paris but A1id not
want to remain in P:ris itself a» we had very few and old men from guard and
occupation units who would be uneble to resist an attack or even to supvress
tha ravolution which waa brewing in Paris nt that period.

Fitler was obsessed with a single machine, a mortar mounted on a full track
vehicle that had been made for tho siege of Stalingrad, and thought 1t woulad
help in the defense of Paris. Jeveral times e day he ansked what point thu
machine, which had been lost ~omewhers in Garmany, reached,

On 16 August tho high stalfs whieh had been in Paris throughout tho osgupa=
tion wore given permissicn from Headquarters in Past Prussia to lesve Peris,
There wore signs of dismolution recognizable, eapecielly as non-oombct Headw
quarbars troops retreated besck to tha gjerman frontier,.

0. After the encirclement of meny of your troops =nd the claesing of the gap
between Felaise and Argentan, how many of them wer able to eseape across the Seine?

A, After the closing of the Falaise CGop, the main peint was that some of the troops
which ware coning in from the Fifteenth Army over the Seine wers retained on the
past benk of the Seine to build up a rally line (Aufnahmelinie) for the troops ree
trenting from the West, I recall that every possible means was used %o get the
troops neross the Seine, ae'all the bridges were destroyed. No particular point
was used £g a crossing more than any other.

T don't know how many men succeeded in crossing the Seine; but, taking irto
account the magnitude of the Aisaster which had struck us, we were rather satis-
f{ed thet so many had been able to croas, 77 had no doubt that only men had
been seved and the matariel left on thoe battlelield. There was & special order
that where the Seine made a long peninsule with 1ts brse line cn the West bank
the troops should defend the short bese line and not withdraw to the long Enst
bank (Morth of Tlbeuf),

0, Uhet apeoific orders were issued?

Ae The situation was very fluid and lew orders were issued. Taken as a whole
the Seventh Army and the Fberhach (Oroup had the order to withdraw to the Seine,
including Poris, using the =mall forces which came down from the Fifteenth Army .
and those which retrsated from Normandy.

On the mid?le Seine the Mirst Army, from the Bay of Biseay, under General
von der Chevallerie wms taken bsck to s defense line on the Seine., He had one
or one and one-half divisions between Lr RocLelle and the Spanish froniier. Fis
staff was moved baak to build up this line, On his left wing was the 15th Armor-
ed Division from Ttaly., The first sim was to build up 2 line of resistence on
the Seine Seutheast of Pariz which wma to be held only for a short time while unita
were ragroupsd and the fall back to the line of the Sormme-i{rrne-Srone.
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Qs What happened to von XJuge?

‘As Von Kluge was relieved by Pileld Mershal Model who was at that time in
command of the East Prussia Group. Yodel went to La Roche Guyon about 12 Aug-
ust, Von Mluge flew %o Wetz and was dead when the plane arrived, He left a
letter to Hitler that he could nmot live any longer after losing Hitler's trust
and Le could not believe thai Ni{tler would trust him any more in the future,
after the losing of the Rattle of Nomandy. I never saw tlis letter but this
is the information Y extracbed from Jodl.

Qs Looking at the entire plcture, what ckances do you figuru you had to hold
France? :

Ae TV was clear that Aitler could not hold France, To rmaet your attask in \
Normandy, 3 or 4 divisions of the total of 8 had been taken from the Wediterrangen
Coast. Almost all dmor, artillery, anti-aireraft, eto. had been taken away %o
the Normandy front, This was done with a full realizstion of the ixmpending at~
tack in the South of Frence, 'hen !4z ettack came, on 15 August, we had no els
ternative but to retreat, especially when the first paratroop and airborne ope |
erations. proved inmedimtely succeasful, Q
This was the only occasion T can recall when Hitler did not hesitate too

long before deciding to evacuete territory. He consented on 16 or 17 August to \
withdraw from the South Coast, ‘

Qe Whet was the general plan utilized during the August retreat? |

A. fReneral Blaskowitz, Commender in the South, was ordered to assemble the
Nineteenth Army from the Mediterranean, coansisting of ¥ to 4 divisions. (One
had been sent to protect the Ytalian border), end the LXIV Corps from the Bay
of Blscay, around the Plateau de Langres, to build up & left wing of a nmew
front stretching from the mouth of the Sorme, continuing slong the right bank
of the Merne and reaching the Swiss frontier somewhere near Leke Geneva,

on 29 August Ceneral Model was directed to withdraw from the Seine line to
the Somme, hold the Hesdquerters fortress North of Solssons anéd to sssemble all
the srmored divisions he could apere between the Seine end Marme, near the
Chaumont-Troyes lime, for a countersttack insa northwest direction. The right
wing would retreat up the coast to the mouth of the Somme, The balsnce of the
Fifteenth Army not left to hold the fortress ports were to prepare & defsnse on
the right, next the Seventh Army further Southeast, then the First Ammy with e
punber of units ==ms from Germany. The let wing was composed of Eberbach's
armored divisions and troops from Bleskowitz's forces in the South, and some
other troops arriving from Germany.

All troops which were unable to continue fighting because of losses in
personnel snd material had to be withdrawn to the West Wall to rest thers.
(erfrischen)

On 31 August the word "Vest Wall" was used for the first time., This dem-
onstrated that even in this situation nobody had thought thus far of going
back and giving up all of France.

The Somme-iarns-Jaons line wes now out of the question. It now seemed
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nacessary to pranars the “est Wall for dofense too,

p to this time no preparations had been mnde for the use of the West Well,
Y remember that we of the ObarkommandowehrTiad to ring up the General of Fortie
fications, Qeneral Tskob, end ask him about the condition of the West Wall at
the time. This may be explained by Fitler's attitude: nover to let anyone look
behind him but always shead. To h-.ve mentioned the Vest Wall bafore this time
would probably have cost yvou your head.

s %Who Tinally did mention 1t?

As« T belisve Jodl mentioned it finelly. Todl was able to do these things and
had the courage to do it, =2nd M{tler would permit him to get away with %,

G, Tt has alweys vuzzled me why the port installations at sntverp were not de-
atoyed the wuy iney were =2t Cherbourg snd Rrest,

Ao Antworp had no defenses like Cherbourg, The fortifications were some way
wvay from Antwerp, closer to the coest on Walcheren and the Lower gScheldt.

Pe did not expect your breakthrough to Antwerp ns speedily mas it happened.
You had barely crossed the Somrie »nd sui’enly onspr two of your arrored divie-
sions were nt the gates of Antwerp.

e had nothing but » fow recruiting repiments, Fven the {nstallations for
destroying the harbor were not put into rmction. The orgenization might have
been there, and the material wes certainly there as it was surveyad for, and
it was standard operational procedure with us to conduct stieh destruction, pPut
we had not expected any breskthrough so guickly end nothing wes ready. TFvery
pert hae to be destroyed if in denger of capture., wWhen the news come eerly in
September it was a bitter surnrise, :

G+ Vhy did you lesve the Armed Forces Operations 8Staff?

A. then the explosion occurred on 20 Tuly 1944, T had no outward marks of injury,

but soon began to notice I was loeing my equilidbrium. Tt was particul=rly notic-
eble during my Clight to Nommandy early in August, Because of the grevity of the
military situation T kept to my job ngainst the doetor's a’vices., Finally, nfter
T had keeled over snd lost smense of balance, "{tler on the doctor's insistence
orjered me {nto retirement on 6 September 1944,
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